IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VINCENT VAUGHN

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2010-KA-00172-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Vincent Vaughn
- 4. Laurence Y. Mellen, Brenda F. Mitchell, and the Coahoma County District Attorney's Office
- 5. Honorable Albert B. Smith, III

THIS 26th day of March, 2010.

Respectfully submitted,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUENO.1: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO COMMENT ON APPELLANT'S INVOCATION OF HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Coahoma County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for manslaughter against the appellant, Vincent Vaughn. Tr. 138, C.P. 9-10, R.E. 13-14. Vaughn was subsequently sentenced to ten years to serve and five years post-release supervision. Tr. 145, C.P. 11-14, R.E. 15-18. This sentence followed a jury trial on November 17, 2009, with a sentencing hearing on January 11, 2010, Honorable Albert B. Smith, III, Circuit Judge, presiding¹. Vaughn is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to the testimony presented at trial, on September 13, 2008, the body of Arthur Hughes (Hughes) was found in his house by his wife, Linda Hughes (Linda)². Tr. 48, 52. After seeing two "big spots" of blood on the sidewalk, she ran up to the door and saw Hughes laying on his back with blood all over the floor. It appeared to her like he had a hole

¹It should be noted that this was Vaughn's third trial. Two other trials ended in a hung jury. Tr. 34-35, C.P. 5-6, 7-8, R.E. 9-10, 11-12.

² Although married, Linda testified they had been separated for about 2 years. Tr. 49.

in the back of his head. Tr. 52. As a registered nurse, she could tell that Hughes was not breathing and was dead. Tr. 54, 56. Linda knew the appellant, Vincent Vaughn, through his friendship with her husband. Tr. 49-50. She was not present at the time Hughes was injured. Tr. 60.

Shortly before Hughes was discovered, Vaughn walked into the Clarksdale Police Department to make a compliant. According to Corporal Nicholas Turner, Vaughn told him that he and a friend had just been in a fight. Vaughn explained that Hughes was upset about something Vaughn said and picked up a pipe, told him to get out of his yard, and pushed Vaughn. When Hughes was about to push him again, Vaughn stated that he hit Hughes, knocking him down. Vaughn stated Hughes got up and threatened to kill him. Vaughn said he wanted to make a complaint because he knew Hughes owned a gun. He wanted to report this to the police in case something happened. Tr. 70

Corporal Turner testified that not a minute after Vaughn left, he received a call about a body being found. Police were looking for someone who matched Vaughn's description. Corporal Turner then went out to catch-up with Vaughn. Tr. 71. He had Vaughn follow him back to the police station where they waited for detectives to arrive. Corporal Turner did not take a statement from Vaughn, but just engaged in idle "chitchat." He did remember Vaughn saying that he and Hughes were best friends, but when Hughes got to drinking, he would become violent. Tr. 72. Although this conversation was apparently taped, the recording was evidently erased or lost. Tr. 72-73. Corporal Turner also testified he did not remember

Vaughn being intoxicated. Tr. 76. He also did not remember seeing any cuts or bruises on him. Tr. 77.

Investigator Vincent Ramirez was the detective called to Hughes's home to investigate an altercation there. Tr. 62. He spoke to the officers present and started taking pictures of the scene. State's Ex. S-1A, S-1B, S-1C, S-1D. Investigator Ramirez speculated that the blood indicated that Hughes had been moved from one area to another. Tr. 65. He also testified that he read Vaughn his rights on September 15, 2008, after Vaughn was arrested, but that Vaughn refused to speak to him. Tr. 68-69, Ex. S-4.

The State's final witness was Dr. Adele Lewis. She was a pathologist who reviewed Hughes's autopsy, but did not actually perform the procedure³. Tr. 89. Dr. Lewis indicated Hughes had a bruise to his forehead and to the back of his head. Tr. 92-93. She agreed with the original pathologist that the cause of death was blunt-force trauma to the head. She also agreed that the manner of death was homicide. Tr. 94. However, she admitted that her conclusion that Hughes's death was the result of a homicide was based on hearsay. Apparently, police told the coroner Hughes was hit and fell. The coroner told the original pathologist the same facts, and Dr. Lewis had no way to disagreed. Tr. 96. Had she been told that Hughes was intoxicated and fell and hit his head, she would have opined that his death was an accident. Tr. 98. Toxicology tests showed that Hughes's blood-alcohol content was .166% at the time of his death. Tr. 100-101.

³ The pathologist who actually performed the autopsy was unavailable for trial. Tr. 35-37.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The evidence in this case was simply insufficient to support a conviction for manslaughter against Vincent Vaughn. Vaughn was indicted for manslaughter under Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-29 (1972). The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Vaughn actually committed a misdemeanor assault. Furthermore, the evidence was also lacking in proof that even if an assault occurred, the blow by Vaughn was the proximate cause of Hughes's death.

Furthermore, Vaughn was prejudiced by the prosecution's introduction of evidence that Vaughn invoked his right to remain silent after he was read his *Miranda* rights. The State compounded the error by commenting on it again during closing arguments. With such little evidence to begin with, telling the jury that Vaughn refused to talk was a clear violation of his fundamental constitutional right that his silence would not be used against him. The failure to object should not procedurally bar this issue as it constitutes plain error.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT, OR WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

A. Sufficiency of the Evidence

The standard of review regarding the sufficiency of the evidence is well-established. Review of a motion for a directed verdict tests the sufficiency of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (¶15) (Miss. 2005). The court must determine whether the evidence shows "beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused committed the act charged and that he

did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction." *Id.* at ¶16 (quoting *Carr v. State*, 208 So. 2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968)). Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, the question is not whether the court believes the evidence established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but whether a rational trier of fact could have found all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 844 (¶16) (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315 (1979)).

Vaughn's trial counsel made the proper motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the State's case.⁴ He specifically argued that the State failed to show or put on any evidence that Vaughn committed a misdemeanor assault. Tr. 104-05. The court overruled the motion, finding Vaughn's statement to the police that he hit Hughes was sufficient. Tr. 105. However, even taking the State's evidence in its best light, Vaughn admitted to hitting Hughes in necessary self-defense after being threatened with a pipe. Tr. 70. Using a fist in self-defense against a pipe is not a misdemeanor. There was no evidence admitted that contradicted Vaughn's statement. The State's evidence was wholly insufficient to show a misdemeanor occurred. The trial judge erred in failing to grant a directed verdict.

Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-29 (1972), states in part that a person is guilty of manslaughter if, by the act, procurement, or culpable negligence, he kills another without malice while

⁴ Counsel also renewed his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence in a peremptory instruction (D-2), which was also denied. C.P. 36. Furthermore, although the actual motion for a JNOV or new trial is not contained in the record, there is an order denying said motion. C.P. 17. The motion was presumably made *ore tenus*.

"engaged in the perpetration or any crime or misdemeanor not amounting to a felony, or in the attempt to commit any crime or misdemeanor." The sole evidence the State presented to show Vaughn was engaged in the commission of a crime was his alleged statement to police that he hit Hughes, knocking him to the ground after he was threatened with a pipe. Tr. 70. According to Corporal Turner, Vaughn also stated that after hitting him, Hughes got up and threatened to kill him. These statements were not contradicted by the physical evidence found at the scene or the testimony of the pathologist. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Vaughn did hit Hughes, and further that that particular blow caused the injury which eventually killed him, the blood stains found on the sidewalk and the blood found inside the house supports Vaughn's statement that after knocking him down, Hughes got up and threatened to kill him.

The evidence presented was wholly insufficient to convict Vaughn of a misdemeanor assault had Hughes lived. Again, no other witnesses to the alleged assault were presented by the State. Even the pathologist could not definitively state that the bruise to Hughes's forehead occurred immediately before the blow to the back of his head, only that it occurred within 24 hours of his death. Tr. 95. Even taking Vaughn's statement to police as true, his actions clearly did not amount to culpable negligence much less a simple assault. The trial judge erred in not granting the directed verdict.

B. Weight of the Evidence

If this Court finds the evidence supporting the charge of manslaughter was at least sufficient to submit to the jury, in the alternative, Vaughn would assert that the verdict of

guilty was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. As noted above, counsel's post-trial motion for a new trial is not contained in the record. However, the court issued an order overruling counsel's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or in the alternative, a new trial. C.P. 16. "A motion for new trial challenges the weight of the evidence." *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So.2d 731 (¶20) (Miss. 2005).

"In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Id. See also Benson v. State*, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss. 1989); *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss. 1987).

As argued above, the sole evidence presented by the State to show Vaughn assaulted Hughes was his statement to police. In this statement, Vaughn stated that after being pushed and threatened by Hughes with a pipe, Vaughn hit him and knocked him down. Hughes then got up and threatened to kill him. Tr. 70. No reasonable juror could conclude Vaughn was guilty of an assault beyond a reasonable doubt based on this information alone. Furthermore, there was no evidence that this particular blow is what caused the fatal injury to Hughes's head. The pathologist's conclusion that this was a homicide was based on hearsay contained in the autopsy report. She could not conclude the bruise on Hughes's forehead was caused

by Vaughn or that this blow is what knocked him down causing the fatal injury. Tr. 96. She would have found this death to be accidental if she was informed Hughes fell. Tr. 97, 99.

It can not be ignored that two other juries could not unanimously find Vaughn guilty.

C.P. 5-6, 7-8, R.E. 9-10, 11-12. The report Vaughn made to police was supported by the physical evidence. Vaughn never admitted to any crime when speaking with Corporal Turner, but was concerned for his own safety after Hughes threatened to kill him.

Q. [By Defense Counsel] Mr. Vaughn said he had been in an altercation with his friend.

A. [By Corporal Turner] Correct.

Q. That he hit him. You don't know where he hit him. You don't remember Mr. Vaughn being intoxicated. You didn't see any evidence of altercation. There was a recording that we don't have. And Mr. Vaughn did not sign anything sayin' that he gave that statement was true and correct. Is that a – fairly and accurate summary of what you just said?

A. That's correct.

Tr. 77.

Sitting as a thirteenth juror, this Court should find that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Jenkins v. State*, 947 So.2d 270 (¶24) (Miss. 2006). To allow this verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. See *Hawthorne v. State*, 883 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2004). Vaughn at least deserves a new trial.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO COMMENT ON APPELLANT'S INVOCATION OF HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

During the testimony of Investigator Ramirez, the prosecutor admitted into evidence the rights waiver form signed by Vaughn. States's Ex. S-4, Tr. 69. This was after trial counsel asked Ramirez during cross-examination whether or not Vaughn voluntarily came to the police station the night of the incident. Tr. 67. However, the rights warning form was signed on September 15, 2008, after Vaughn had been arrested. The prosecutor went on to point out that Vaughn did not speak to Investigator Ramirez at that point.

[BY THE PROSECUTOR]: Q. Now, you said that you read Mr. Vaughn his Miranda rights. But Mr. Vincent -- when you read him his Miranda rights, was this -- at this point was Mr. Vaughn placed under arrest? Was he under arrest at this point?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. All right. And he didn't agree to speak to you at this point, did he?

A. No, sir.

Tr. 69.

Although trial counsel did not object to this question, this was clearly plain error. Trial counsel carefully asked the question pertaining to Vaughn's cooperation on the night of the incident. Counsel did not ask about subsequent attempts to get a statement from Vaughn after his arrest. The question did not open the door to re-direct on whether or not Vaughn exercised his right to remain silent after he was read his rights. Allowing Investigator Ramirez to testify that Vaughn refused to give a statement after he was arrested

and informed of his rights, violates the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, as well as Article III, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution.

The Fifth Amendment provides that "No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself..." U.S. Const. Amend V. The Mississippi Constitution further provides that "In all criminal prosecutions the accused...shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself;...." Art. III § 26, Miss. Const. The privileges against self-incrimination are embedded in framework of both the State and Federal Constitutions, serving as bedrock constitutional principles under which our system of criminal justice functions.

Vaughn was penalized for exercising those rights after he was told his silent could not be used against him. It was improper for the trial judge to allow testimony about the Vaughn's silence after he was read his rights under *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). *Doyle v. Ohio*, 426 U.S. 610, 618, 96 S.Ct. 2240, 2244-45 (1976), clearly prohibits questioning about an accused's post-arrest silence.

In *Quick v. State*, this Court held that it is improper and, ordinarily, reversible error to comment on a defendant's silence after he has been read his rights. *Quick v. State*, 569 So. 2d 1197, 1199 (Miss. 1990).

As this Court stated in *Quick*, "[i]t is improper and, ordinarily, reversible error to comment on the accused's post-Miranda silence." *Quick*, 569 So.2d at 1199 (emphasis added). Furthermore, as then Presiding Justice Hawkins pointed out "[i]n *Doyle* the U.S. Supreme Court held that if an accused under arrest was given a *Miranda* warning and told that he had a right to remain silent, and the accused did remain silent, that the government thereafter could not use his choice of remaining silent as a weapon during his trial testimony

cross-examination to cast suspicion on his guilt or innocence. Simply put, the government cannot use an accused's exercise of a Constitutional right as a weapon to convict him...." *Johnson [v. State]*, 596 So.2d [865] at 869 [Miss. 1992] (Hawkins, P.J., dissenting) (emphasis added).

Puckett v. State, 737 So.2d 322, 351 (Miss. 1999)(citations omitted).

As argued above, with the scant evidence the prosecution presented in this case, the jury could have easily assumed Vaughn had something to hide by failing to speak to police. This Court has held it is not a violation to inquire into a defendant's post-arrest silence, as long as there was no evidence *Miranda* warnings had been given. *McGrone v. State*, 807 So.2d 1232 (¶10) (Miss. 2002). However, the State actually submitted evidence that Vaughn was read his rights. State's Ex. S-4. It is clear that only after Vaughn was arrested and read his rights did he decline to make a statement. Tr. 69. The jury should have never been informed that Vaughn declined to give a statement. The question was clearly prejudicial to Vaughn.

In a similar issue involving a prosecutor asking a detective about the defendant's silence after being read his rights, Justice Dickinson noted in *Birkhead v. State*:

So long as Courts overlook such blatant violations of constitutional rights, prosecutors and investigators will have little incentive to refrain from committing those violations. Many argue that we should show more concern for the rights of the victim. I agree. But we do not show concern for victims by refusing to enforce the constitutional rights and protections required by the constitution. Instead, we increase the danger that the real perpetrator of a crime will walk free because some innocent person is wrongly convicted. Under such circumstances when the law is not judiciously followed, the victim's right to justice is certainly not perfectly protected, and society's demand for justice is just as certainly not met.

Birkhead v. State, No. 2007-KA-00666-SCT (¶63) (Miss. February 19, 2009), Dickinson, Justice, Dissenting.

To further compound the error, Vaughn's exercise of his right to remain silent was again commented on by the prosecution during its closing argument.⁵

Then Vincent Vaughn was later arrested by Vincent Ramirez. And I asked him, "Investigator Ramirez, after you put him under arrest, you read him his Miranda rights – the right to remain silent, the right to counsel, et cetera – did he speak?"

"No."

He was under arrest at that point. He was willin' to speak when he was the first one there, when he could tell his story to Nicholas Turner before anybody knew there was a dead body layin' out there on Spruce Street.

Tr. 121.

The constitutional right against self incrimination includes the right not to have the State comment on the exercise of that right. *Whigham v. State*, 611 So. 2d 988, 995 (Miss. 1992). This was especially crucial given Vaughn's decision not to testify at trial. Tr. 106-07. Vaughn did not make up some story while testifying that the State was trying to impeach by using his earlier silence. "The accused's right to be silent then is equally as strong as the right not to testify and it is error to comment on either. Certainly it is improper to inquire of the defendant as to whether he made any protest or explanation to the arresting officers." *Quick*,

⁵ The appellant clearly concedes these comments were not objected to at trial. In fact, trial counsel even commented on the fact that Vaughn gave no statement to police in the defense closing argument. Tr. 126. Given trial counsel's failure to object, there are potential claims of ineffective assistance of counsel that cannot be raised in this appeal because they are not "fully apparent from the record." MRAP Rule 22 (b). These potential claims include a failure to object to comments on Vaughn's right to remain silent, failure to submit a written motion for JNOV or new trial, as well as his failure to submit a self-defense instruction. Vaughn reserves these claims for post-conviction review if that is necessary. *Havard v. State*, 928 So.2d 771 (¶13) (Miss. 2006).

supra at 1199, citing Austin v. State, 384 So.2d 600, 601 (Miss.1980). Comments on the exercise of the right to remain silent are of such constitutional importance as to not require an objection. Griffin v. State, 557 So. 2d 542, 552 (Miss.1990).

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