IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VINCENT VAUGHN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-KA-0172-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NORTH

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Contrary to any suggestion by Vaughn, the case at bar simply does not exist in this posture.

ISSUE NO. 2.

THERE WAS NO OBJECTION, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR OTHERWISE, TO THE PROSECUTOR'S REFERENCES TO VAUGHN'S POST-ARREST, POST-*MIRANDA* SILENCE; RATHER, THE *MIRANDA* ISSUE IS RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

ACCORDINGLY, VAUGHN IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM ASSAILING THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS AT THIS BELATED HOUR.

THE PLAIN ERROR RULE SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED HERE BECAUSE ANY ERROR WAS CURED AND CLEARLY RENDERED HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT WHEN DEFENSE COUNSEL SUBSEQUENTLY SAID THE SAME THING.

Vaughn argues for the first time the prosecutor impermissibly pointed out during his reexamination of Investigator Ramirez that after Vaughn's arrest and at some point following the reading of Vaughn's *Miranda* rights, Vaughn did not agree to speak. (R. 69) (Brief of the Appellant at 9) Defense counsel's question and Ramirez's negative response, both of which are criticized here, was not the target of a contemporaneous objection. (R. 68-69)

Vaughn also claims, again for the first time, this error was compounded during closing argument when the prosecutor pointed out anew that Vaughn, although willing to discuss the incident with Officer Turner *prior* to Vaughn's arrest, did not "speak" to Officer Ramirez *after* Vaughn's arrest and the reading of his *Miranda* rights. (Brief of the Appellant at 12)

Vaughn seeks discharge but, if not discharge, at least a fourth trial. (Brief of the Appellant

at 15)

Procedural Bar. The Contemporaneous Objection Rule.

One of the problems with these arguments is that the prosecutor's comments complained

about here and now failed to generate an objection, contemporaneous or otherwise, then and there.

Rather, they are complained about for the first time on appeal.

Regrettably, there is no ruling by the trial judge to review. Cf. Williams v. State, 971 So.2d

581, 590 (Miss. 2007), where we find the following:

Williams claims that he was questioned by Agent Umfress prior to being informed of his constitutional rights as required by *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). This argument is presented for the first time on appeal. No motion was made at the trial level to suppress the statements made by Williams to the agents at his home. Agent Umfress testified that he orally advised Williams of his rights during the execution of the search warrant. Further, Williams signed a waiver of his rights after being taken into custody. "As a general rule, constitutional questions not asserted at the trial level are deemed waived." *Pinkney v. State*, 757 So.2d 297, 299 (Miss. 2000). This issue is procedurally barred.

Vaughn candidly and correctly admits that no objection was made. He claims, however, the

failure to object should not preclude a reviewing court from finding plain error.

We respectfully point out the abbreviated comments - a mere "mentioning," if you please -

complained about "here and now" were not so obviously egregious and prejudicial "then and there."

In other words, any comment on Vaughn's invocation of his right to remain silent did not stand out

like the proverbial sore thumb.

These observations, standing alone, are fatal to Vaughn's post arrest silence complaint raised

here for the first time on appeal. In short, any error was waived when Vaughn failed to object during trial. Accordingly, Vaughn has "forfeited" his right to raise this claim on appeal. *See* **United States v. Dodson**, 288 F.3d 153 (5th Cir. 2002), reh denied, cert denied 123 S.Ct. 32 [Forfeiture is the failure to make the timely assertion of a right, generally by failure to object to an error in the proceedings.]

It is well settled that a contemporaneous objection to allegedly prejudicial remarks of a prosecutor during opening or closing argument or to allegedly prejudicial questions propounded during trial is required in order to preserve these points for appellate scrutiny.

Failure to object operates to procedurally bar appellate review. **Rogers v. State**, 928 So.2d 831 (Miss. 2006); **Havard v. State**, 928 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2006), reh denied; **Spicer v, State**, 921 So.2d 292, as modified on denial of rehearing, cert denied 127 S.Ct. 493; **Edwards v. State**, 737 So.2d 275 (Miss. 1999); **Manning v. State**, 735 So.2d 323 (Miss. 1999); **Watts v. State**, 733 So.2d 214 (Miss. 1999); **Weatherspoon v. State**, 732 So.2d 158 (Miss. 1999); **Skinner v. State**, 726 So.2d 272 (Ct. App. Miss. 1998).

"Failure by defense counsel to contemporaneously object to a prosecutor's remark at trial bars consideration of prosecutorial misconduct allegations on appeal." **Brown v. State,** 936 So.2d 447, 453 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006), citing **Davis v. State,** 660 So.2d 1228, 1255 (Miss. 1995).

Stated differently, a contemporaneous objection to allegedly prejudicial remarks by the district attorney is required else the objection is waived. Handley v. State, 574 So.2d 671 (Miss. 1990); Hill v. State, 432 So.2d 427 (Miss. 1983); Alford v. State, 760 So.2d 48 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000); Swindle v. State, 755 So.2d 1158 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999) [Defendant waived any challenge to all but one of the prosecutor's remarks made during closing argument where he failed to make a

contemporaneous objection to all but one comment.]

In Hill v. State, *supra*, 432 So.2d 427, 439 (Miss. 1983), this Court opined:

In this case, however, there was no objection to this argument. We have consistently held that contemporaneous objection must be made to improper argument by the state, and unless such objection is made, any claimed error for such improper argument will not be considered on appeal. [numerous citations omitted]

The absence of a contemporaneous objection is absolutely fatal to Vaughn's complaint. **Turner v. State, 818** So.2d 1181 (Miss. 2002) [By failing to object to the state's closing argument during trial, defendant was precluded from raising any issues concerning the argument for the first time on appeal.]; **Hampton v. State, 815** So.2d 429 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002) [A contemporaneous objection must be made in order for the Court of Appeals to consider claims of improper or erroneous comments by a prosecuting attorney made during closing argument.]; **Swindle v. State,** *supra*.

It is elementary that a contemporaneous objection is required in order to preserve an error for appellate review. **Caston v. State, 823** So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002), reh denied; **Logan v. State,** 773 So.2d 338 (Miss. 2000); **Florence v. State,** 755 So.2d 1065 (Miss. 2000); **Jackson v. State,** 766 So.2d 795 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000); **Goree v. State,** 750 So.2d 1260 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

Otherwise the error, if any at all, is waived for appeal purposes. **Caston v. State**, *supra*, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

Stated differently, "[t]he failure to object at trial acts as a procedural bar in an appeal." White v. State, 964 So.2d 1181, 1185 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), citing Jackson v. State, 832 So.2d at 579, 581(¶3) (Ct.App. Miss. 2002), citing Carr v. State, 655 So.2d 824, 853 (Miss. 1995).

A defendant is not entitled to raise new issues on appeal that he has not first presented to the

trial court for consideration. Hodgin v. State, 964 So.2d 492 (Miss. 2007). This rule is not diminished in a capital case. Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007). Moreover, it also applies to constitutional questions. Williams v. State, 971 So.2d 581 (Miss. 2007) ["As a general rule, constitutional questions not asserted at the trial level are deemed waived."] *See also* Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968, 987-88, 1015 (Miss. 2006); Rogers v. State, 928 So.2d 831, 834 (Miss. 2006).

In **Gonzales v. State**, 963 So.2d 1138, 1144 (Miss. 2007), the Supreme Court reaffirmed the rule with the following rhetoric:

Where an argument has never been raised before the trial court, we repeatedly have held that 'a trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to the trial court for a decision.' *Purvis v. Barnes,* 791 So.2d 199, 203 (Miss. 2001).

The contemporaneous objection rule has been applied to speedy trial violations, discovery violations, *Batson* violations, in-court identifications, admission of wrongfully obtained evidence, trial *in absentia*, and the like. *See* **Miller v. State**, 956 So.2d 221 (Miss. 2007) [speedy trial]; **Jackson v. State**, 962 So.2d 649 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), reh den, cert den [discovery]; **Flowers v. State**, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007) and **Roles v. State**, 952 So.2d 1043 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [*Batson*]; **Black v. State**, 949 So.2d 105 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [in-court identifications]; **Gonzales v. State**, *supra*, 963 So.2d 1138 (Miss. 2007)[wrongfully obtained evidence]; **Mallard v. State**, 798 So.2d 539 (Miss. 2001) [trial *in absentia*].

The contemporaneous objection rule is in place in order to enable the trial judge to correct error with proper instructions to the jury whenever possible. **Slaughter v. State, 815** So.2d 1122 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

A trial court cannot be put in error unless it had an opportunity to first pass on the question. Palm v. State, 748 So.2d 135 (Miss. 1999); Fulgham v. State, 770 So.2d 1021 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000). See also Mallard v. State, supra, 798 So.2d 539, 542 (Miss. 2001), where this Court held

that Mallard's complaint that she was tried in her absence was waived, for the purposes of appeal,

since she failed to object to her trial in absentia.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-35-143 is precisely in point. It reads, in its pertinent parts, that

[a] judgment in a criminal case **shall not be reversed** because the transcript of the record does not show a proper organization of the court below or of the grand jury, or where the court was held, or that the prisoner was present in court during the trial or any part of it, or that the court asked him if he had anything to say why judgment should not be pronounced against him upon the verdict, or because of any error or omission in the case in the court below, except where the errors or omission are jurisdictional in their character, unless the record show that the errors complained of were made ground of special exception in that court. [emphasis added]

The underlying bases for the existence of a contemporaneous objection rule are contained

in Oates v. State, 421 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss. 1982), where we find the following:

There are three basic considerations which underlie the rule requiring specific objections. It avoids costly new trials. Boring v. State, 253 So.2d 251 (Miss. 1971). It allows the offering party an opportunity to obviate the objection. Heard v. State, 59 Miss. 545 (Miss. 1882). Lastly, a trial court is not put in error unless it had an opportunity to pass on the question. Boutwell v. State, 165 Miss. 16, 143 So. 479 (1932). These rules apply with equal force in the instant case; accordingly, we hold that appellant did not properly preserve the question for appellate review.

In Leverett v. State, 197 So.2d 889, 890 (Miss. 1967), this Court, quoting from Collins v.

State, 173 Miss. 179, 180, 159 So. 865 (1935), penned the following language:

The Supreme Court is a court of appeals, it has no original jurisdiction; it can only try questions that have been tried and passed upon by the court from which the appeal is taken. Whatever remedy appellant has is in the trial court, not in this court. This court can only pass on the question after the trial court has done so.

In Sumner v. State, 316 So.2d 926, 927 (Miss. 1975), we find the following language

concerning the time for making an objection:

The rule governing the time of objection to evidence is that it must be made as soon as it appears that the evidence is objectionable, or as soon as it could reasonably have been known to the objecting party, unless some special reason makes a postponement desirable for him which is not unfair to the proponent of the evidence. *Williams v. State*, 171 Miss. 324, 157 So. 717 (1934) and cases cited therein. See also cases in Mississippi Digest under Criminal Law at 693.

We reiterate. "A trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to him for decision." **Ballenger v. State**, 667 So.2d 1242, 1256 (Miss. 1995) citing numerous cases. *See also* **McLendon v. State**, 945 So.2d 372 (Miss. 2006), reh den, cert den; **Howard v. State**, 945 So.2d 326 (Miss. 2006), reh den, cert den. "[The Supreme Court] cannot find that a trial judge committed reversible error on a matter not brought before him to consider." **Montgomery v. State**, 891 So.2d 179, 187 (Miss. 2004) reh den.

No egregious violation of a fundamental or substantial right is involved here, and the procedural bar/waiver/forfeiture rule is applicable to Vincent Vaughn.

Plain Error .

Vaughn argues that because the comments complained about were not objected to at trial, he must proceed under the doctrine of plain error. (Brief of the Appellant at 9, 13)

Miss.R.Evid. 103 (d) reads as follows: "Nothing in this rule precludes taking notice of plain errors affecting substantial rights although they were not brought to the attention of the court."

An in depth discussion of the "plain-error" doctrine and its application is found in the recent case of **Starr v. State**, 997 So.2d 262 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008).

We continue to adhere to our view that "plain error" is something for a reviewing court to notice and not a talisman available for an appellant to argue.

In any event, the plain error doctrine is inapplicable here because in order to find "plain"

error there must be "error" working to a defendant's disadvantage. Vaughn's defense was that he never, either prior to the warnings or thereafter, made a statement to law enforcement that he hit Hughes.

"I just want - - of course Mr. Vaughn's denyin' that he told you this, so that's why it's important that we get to the bottom of it." (Defense counsel's comment made to Officer Turner during counsel's cross-examination at R. 74)

"What is denied is that Mr. Vaughn, [Hughes's] friend, hit him and knocked him to the ground." (Defense counsel's closing argument at R. 127)

Counsel relied quite heavily on the fact that neither a video nor audio tape of Vaughn's

statement to Turner was preserved and available. (R. 72-73, 74-76) Thus, Vaughn's silence was the

heart of his defense. The failure to object may well have been a product of Vaughn's trial strategy.

Even if this issue is evaluated under the plain-error doctrine, there is still no error plain

enough and egregious enough to warrant reversal of Vaughn's manslaughter conviction.

"The plain error doctrine requires that there be an error and the error must have resulted in

a manifest miscarriage of justice." Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181, 187 (Miss. 2001).

In McGee v. State, 953 So.2d 211, 215 (Miss. 2007), we find the following language

dispositive of Vaughn's "plain error" argument:

* * * However, if there is a finding of plain error, a reviewing court may consider the issue regardless of the procedural bar. A review under the plain error doctrine is necessary when a party's fundamental rights are affected, and the error results in a manifest miscarriage of justice. Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181, 187-88 (Miss. 2001). To determine if plain error has occurred, we must determine "if the trial court has deviated from a legal rule, whether that error is plain, clear or obvious, and whether the error has prejudiced the outcome of the trial." Cox v. State, 793 So.2d 591, 597 (Miss. 2001) (relying on Grubb v. State, 584 So.2d 786, 789 (Miss. 1991); Porter v. State, 749 So.2d 250, 260-61 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999). The Supreme Court applies the "plain error" rule "... only when it affects a defendant's substantial/fundamental rights." Williams v. State, *supra*, 794 So.2d at 187.

None of this criteria is found to exist in the case at bar.

First, Judge Smith did not deviate from a legal rule. In the absence of a contemporaneous objection, the trial judge never had the opportunity to rule. Thus, there is no error, plain or otherwise, subject to review.

Second, even if there is the spectre of error, it is neither "plain" nor "clear" nor "obvious." Rather, it was a mere mentioning of Vaughn's post-arrest silence. Vaughn's alleged silence, both pre-arrest and post-arrest, appears to have been a part and parcel of his defense since defense counsel suggested to the jury Vaughn never told Officer Turner he hit Hughes and knocked him to the ground. In other words, any error did not result in a "manifest miscarriage of justice."

Harmless Error.

Assuming, arguendo, there is "plain error," it was clearly cured and rendered harmless beyond a reasonable doubt when defense counsel, during his closing argument, twice said the same thing.

We quote:

[BY DEFENSE COUNSEL:]

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